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Introduction



This fascinating and readable book about the conundrum of black slavery and the birth of a free nation is an exacting history by two remarkable scholars who have distinguished themselves as lawyers and intellectuals. Although the Blumrosens are not professional historians, the history of slavery and discrimination has had an important place in their personal and professional lives. Living with the consequences of this history in our country fueled their lifelong dedication to racial justice and their work as civil rights lawyers. Their strong professional bonds nurtured their remarkable, loving marriage as well. They worked together as lawyers, scholars, and professors, sometimes on the same subjects, but often not. Theirs was a lifelong partnership of parallel interests, professions, scholarship, and now this final collaboration.

The Blumrosens work to eliminate discrimination based on race, sex, religion, and national origin has been rooted in the nations racial history. They were among a small band of lawyers who developed path-breaking legal theory and converted it to judicial doctrine. History assumed pragmatic importance in the search for the first effective remedies for discrimination, often becoming the predicate for the new remedies that finally emerged.

As legal pioneers in the field of equal employment law, the Blumrosens could not afford to be strangers to history. Understanding the history of slavery and discrimination has been essential to the remedies they helped fashion in race and sex discrimination law. Three centuries of the cumulative consequences of discrimination required strong remedies, but they could be justified only by unusual circumstances. Those circumstances were found in our nations unusual history.

Slave Nation is a logical if unpredictable product of the interest of these two lawyers in the close relationship between American law and Americas racial history. In this book, the Blumrosens have gone beyond the uses of history to grapple with history itself.

The Blumrosens are fascinated by contradiction and irony. The historical contradictions between slavery and freedom in America find parallels in the law they know best. American law was the guardian and the guarantor of slavery. The legal system rationalized and enforced slavery and discrimination. Yet, the law that guaranteed and fostered legal subjugation became an instrument of liberation with the 1954 school desegregation cases and the wideranging jurisprudence that has developed since. The Blumrosens are part of the generation of lawyers who changed American law. They also changed America.

The authors investigate the sources of the old contradiction between slavery and freedom and find it in full form before the American Revolution. They reconstruct the straight line between slavery and our national origins. They show that the slavery question did not simply arise at the writing of the Constitution when the future of black slavery and its place in the new nation had to be publicly faced because it could no longer be avoided. The security of slavery had to be settled before the Revolution or the cause of independence and nationhood would have been stillborn.

The Blumrosens bring fresh eyes to the problematic national emergence of slavery as an issue in the pre-Revolutionary period. Of course, slavery was a native institution originally present in all the colonies and ultimately shaped the South and its economy. For more than a century slavery flourished, increasingly favoring the South, which regarded slavery as indispensable to the products of its agricultural economy. However, black slavery was more than geographical. In the South, the practice hardened into an institution bolted into economic and cultural life, affecting everything it touched. Black slavery was not as useful to northern commerce and antislavery sentiment grew, but northern entanglement with slavery was deep and unavoidable. Although two nations were taking shape long before revolution was in the air, slavery quickly became a national issue once the idea of an independent nation began to take shape. The South insisted on slavery, but as the Blumrosens show, the North not only tolerated southern slavery, but early agreed to its permanence in the new nation.

Although the issue grew to divide the country, slavery did not have to be squarely faced while the colonies were part of a mother country that tolerated it, allowing North and South each to go its own way. However, for the slavecentered South, even the possibility of this change was enough to light the spark for the coming revolution. The spark came with the Somerset decision in England that freed a slave brought to London by a colonist and raised a question as to slaverys legitimacy in the Empire. Although this decision did not overturn slavery in the colonies, its logic was not lost on southerners. The Blumrosens take us from Somerset to the Revolution. They show that England had accommodated tax grievances in the past and might have compromised that issue further. However, for the South, compromise on slavery was unthinkable. Independence was the only solution.

In Slave Nation, the Blumrosens go down seldom explored paths that lead to the pro-slavery compromise that was sewn into the national fabric well before the Revolution. The Revolutionary patriots in the North did not speak openly about maintaining slavery but made it clear to the South that slavery would not be disturbed. There would have been no revolution to create one nation if John Adams, the Massachusetts antislavery stalwart and other northerners had not accepted southern prerogatives on slavery. There would have been no union if both the Northwest Ordinance and the Constitution had not guaranteed the continuation of slavery in the southern territories and the entitlement of owners even to their slaves that escaped to the North. The price of freedom from England was bondage for African slaves in America. America would be a slave nation.

North and South made their way to the same barricades with the same national slogans and for many of the same reasons. The committees of correspondence spread revolutionary ardor to increasingly receptive colonies, and British intransigence to greater autonomy and equal rights between England and the colonists congealed.

Beneath the unity of revolution lurked a compromise that could not endure and would lead to civil war in the next century. The Constitution and the Northwest Ordinance memorialized the bargain that had been struck to allow the Revolution to go forward and create a slave nation. The Blumrosens write compellingly from the evidence. The riches are in their research and documentation. They leave us without illusions about how we became one nation. Slave Nation will surprise many readers about the central role of slavery in our nations Revolutionary history, but this book should deepen their appreciation about the distance we have had to travel and for the nation we are becoming today.

 

EHN 11-30-04

Eleanor Holmes Norton, Congresswoman for the District of Columbia, Professor, Georgetown University Law School.


Chapter 1



Somersets Journey Sparks the American Revolution



 

On June 22, 1772, nearly a century before the slaves were freed in America, a British judge, with a single decision, brought about the conditions that would end slavery in England. His decision would have monumental consequences in the American colonies, leading up to the American Revolution, the Civil War, and beyond. Because of that ruling, history would be forever changed. This book is about that decision and the role of slavery in the founding of the United States.

The story of that British court decision begins with the kidnapping of a nine-year-old boy who was growing up in a West African village. He joined the river of slaves that sailed the infamous Middle Passage to America, arriving in Virginia in March, 1749.1 Along the way he was given his slave nameSomerset. He was healthy and quickly picked up English. These qualities caught the eye of a Scottish born, up-and-coming, twenty-four-year-old merchant and slave trader named Charles Stewart. Stewarts office and storehouse were in Norfolk, Virginia, a town where many of the Scottish merchants drawn to the tobacco industry had settled.

Stewart purchased Somerset on August 1, 1749, and trained him as his personal servant. Somerset was given better clothing than Stewarts other slaves and taken to meetings with Stewarts friends and business associates. Somerset was a personable young man with both white and black friends. Correspondence to Stewart included compliments about able Somerset Stewart from Nathaniel Coffin, an important Quaker from Boston, along with the terms of the highest friendship from Sapho and Tambo, presumably black slaves or workers for Coffin.2

The lives of Somerset and Stewart would not now be remembered except for an act of courage and tact by Stewart in 1762 during the French and Indian war. A ship carrying Spanish soldiers, who had surrendered to the British and were being repatriated, floundered off the coast near Norfolk. The ship was under repair when a mob of Virginians attacked the soldiers, killing two and wounding several. Stewart intervened, quieted the mob, and saved the remaining Spaniards. Britain was grateful for his intervention, and rewarded him with a position of authority over customs collectors from Quebec to Virginia. Somerset traveled with Stewart as he enforced the customs laws and met Stewarts friends and associates.

Stewart rose in the customs service, becoming paymaster general of the American Board of Customs. In October, 1769, Stewart sailed to England with Somerset to help raise his sister Cecilias children after the death of her husband. They settled in London. Somerset, with new household duties, familiarized himself with the city and found a black community of thousands of former slaves and free persons, mainly from the British West Indian colonies.3

The large number of former slaves proved unsettling to Sir John Fielding, the man who had modernized the London police force. In 1762, he published a book of extracts from the statutes that governed merchants and artisans of London, hoping that doing so would improve their understanding of the laws. In this, he anticipated modern administrative regulation of business.4

In his book, he tried to discourage colonials from bringing their slaves to England. He explained that when slaves were brought to London, They put themselves on a footing with other servants, become intoxicated with liberty, grow refractory, andbegin to expect wages.

Fielding warned colonials that there were a great number of black men and women whomake it their business to corrupt and dissatisfy the mind of every fresh black servant that comes to England; makes it not only difficult but dangerous to the proprietor of their slaves to recover the possession of them, when once they are spirited away.

In his final argument against bringing slaves to England Fielding declared that the slaves would be useless and dangerouswhen they returned to the colonies:

The sweets of liberty and the conversation with free men and Christians, enlarge their minds and enable themto form such comparisons of the different situations, as only serveto embitter their state of slavery, to make them restless, prompt to conceive, and alert to execute the blackest conspiracies against their governors and masters.

Some London blacks were free. Some, like Somerset, were slaves to colonials living in London. Some had been freed by their masters. Some worked; some were beggars known as the St. Giles Blackbirds. Some were popular artists and singers. Others were seamen or servants.5 Some had been runaways whose owners had given up looking for them because, according to Fielding, the mob [was] on their side. The mob was the working people of London, the preindustrial craftsmen and laborers who poured into the streets of the capital in their thousands to demonstrate for Wilkes and Liberty.6 John Wilkes was a colorful character in the East End of London in the 1760s and 1770s. He was elected to parliament, but having incurred George IIIs displeasure was denied his seat repeatedly and was often arrested, only to be freed by the mob shouting Wilkes and Liberty.

Somerset met many blacks on the streets while running errands for his master, in the stores, and along the docks where he looked longingly at ships that might take him to freedom in a friendly climate. He also became acquainted with some white persons, possibly those with whom Stewart was friendly or had business connections. His pleasant personality, noted in connection with his activities in the colonies, generated friendships in England as well. His conversations with free men and Christians, as Fielding suggested, may have led to his decision to leave Stewart.

In August of 1771, he was baptized in the Church of St. Andrew, Holborn. He probably took his first name, James, at that time. His godparents were Thomas Walkin, Elizabeth Cade, and John Morrow. Some thought that baptism becoming a Christianwould either ensure freedom for a slave, which was not true, or would be a positive element in any litigation concerning his status. Some five or six cases seeking freedom for black slaves were brought before English courts after 1769. This litigation had been inspired by Granville Sharp.

Sharp, a thin, short man with intense features, had illustrious religious ancestors; he was grandson of the archbishop of York, and son of an archdeacon. He disdained the ministry and applied his fine mind to a variety of intellectual matters while working as a government clerk in the ordinance department. He was an intellectual dilettante until he stumbled onto the problem of slavery. He had befriended Jonathan Strong, a young black slave whose master had beaten him nearly to death. Sharp assisted in Strongs recovery and helped him get a job after he recovered. Two years later, Strongs owner saw him and had him detained to be shipped to Jamaica to be sold.

Sharp secured Strongs release. He was appalled by Strongs owners actions and could not believe they were permitted under the laws of England.7 Although he was not a lawyer, Sharp thoroughly researched the confusing precedents on the subject. In 1769 he wrote a powerful tract in support of his views,8 and helped secure the freedom of five or six runaway slaves who had been recaptured by their masters.

Somerset left Stewarts home on October 1, 1771, and did not return. Stewart was not only dismayed at Somersets action, but felt Somerset had betrayed him and insulted his person. He posted notices and may have hired slave catchers.9 Somerset was caught, and on November 26 was delivered to Captain Knowles aboard the Ann and Mary, a ship preparing to sail to Jamaica. Knowles was to sell him there. Knowless sailors dragged Somerset into the hold and put chains on him; chains that Somerset must have thought would never come off.

But they did come off. His godparents acted quickly. On December 3, a week after he had been captured, they petitioned the Court of Kings Bench for a writ of habeas corpus, with affidavits stating that Somerset was being held against his will aboard ship by Captain Knowles. Lord Mansfield, the chief justice of the court, issued a writ requiring Knowles to explain to the court the reason for Somersets detention.10

Kings Bench was the oldest and highest common law court in England; it was so named because in earlier years, the king himself sat in judgment in that court. In 1772, it consisted of a chief justice and four associate justices. One was William Blackstone, the author of the Commentaries on the Law of England, which were well known to colonial lawyers. In 1765, he had written his interpretation of the confused English precedents concerning slavery:

And this spirit of liberty is so deeply implanted in our constitution, and rooted even in our very soil, that a slave or a Negro, the moment he lands in England, falls under the protection of the laws and so far becomes a freeman.11

Lord Mansfield was a former attorney general, a cabinet minister, and a firm upholder of the powers of Parliament over the king and the colonies.12 No radical abolitionist, Mansfield was a powerful jurist and parliamentarian who dominated the Court of Kings Bench. His major fame as a jurist was in rationalizing British law to facilitate commerce. He was careful to include in his opinion on Somersets case that Contract for the sale of a slave is good here; the sale is a matter to which the law properly and readily attaches.13 Mansfield was speaking only to the commerce in slaves relating to the colonies, not to the authority of a master in England.

On December 9, Captain Knowles appeared in Kings Bench with Somerset and a written explanation of why he had been holding Somerset. His reason was simple: Stewart had delivered his slave Somerset to Captain Knowles so that Knowles could take the slave to be sold in Jamaica. Somersets lawyer, William Davy, asked for more time to prepare. Mansfield released Somerset, with sureties, until the hearing. Somerset remained in London, and appeared at the final hearing in his case, which took place on June 22, 1772.

After Somerset was released by Mansfield, he went to meet Granville Sharp. Sharp had secured freedom for other slaves, following the same approach that Somerset had usedobtaining affidavits of white witnesses alleging that the runaway slave was held against his will. These affidavits were submitted to Lord Mansfield, who required the person imprisoning the slave to explain his authority.

In Sharps previous cases involving slaves brought to England, Lord Mansfield had persuaded the slave owner to free the slave, thus enabling the chief justice to avoid what for him was a complex legal and social problem of liberty versus property. In 1771, Mansfield had told a lawyer for another escaped slave:

Perhaps it is much better that [the legality of slavery] should never be discussed or settled. I dont know what the consequences may be, if the masters were to lose their property by accidentally bringing their slaves to England. I hope it never will be finally discussed; for I would have all masters think them free, and all Negroes think they were not, because then they would both behave better.14

Mansfield had a personal interest in the situation of people of color. He was especially fond of his grandniece Dido Elizabeth Lindsey, who was the daughter of Sir John Lindsey, Mansfields nephew. Didos mother had been aboard a Spanish ship that Lindsey had captured. He acknowledged his paternity in his will.15 Dido, in a painting with her cousin Elizabeth Murray, appeared to be a light-skinned black woman. She lived with Mansfields family and had grown up close to Mansfields grandnieces her cousinsand she was accepted socially. She wrote letters for Mansfield when he was too ill to write. In his will he confirmed her freedom, left her 500 plus 100 per annum for life, and the life use of a painting of himself to put her in mind of one she knew from her infancy and always honored with uninterrupted confidence and friendship.16

Mansfield released Somerset temporarily, but he was not a free man yet. The case dragged on while Mansfield tried to persuade Stewart to free Somerset. Mansfield did not want to decide on the legality of slavery in England. But the West Indian planters wanted a decision upholding slavery in Britain because the uncertainty was affecting the price of their property. They financed Stewarts defense. Stewart promised them not to cave in to Mansfields urging. Mansfield even tried to persuade Elizabeth Cade, the poor widow who had paid for the writ of habeas corpus that freed Somerset, to purchase Somerset herself and set him free. She replied that this would acknowledge that Stewart had a right to assault and imprison a poor innocent man in this kingdom, and that she would never be guilty of setting so bad an example.17

Mansfield was exasperated with the planters. He warned them in a preliminary hearing that they were likely to lose. He may have resolved the conflicting precedents in his own mind, or may have used this pressure to achieve a settlement. He told them that the case was so clear that it was unnecessary to convene the full court; he had succeeded in five or six cases in settling the matter by the owner agreeing to free the slave. He recommended that Stewart free Somerset, but: if the parties will have judgment, whatever the consequences, fiat justitia, ruat coelum (let justice be done though the Heavens fall).

Stewarts lawyer had argued that freeing the fourteen or fifteen thousand slaves in England would produce profound disruption, and that the owners would suffer a loss of 700,000, or an average of 50 per slave. To this, Mansfield responded, 50 a head may not be a high price.

To Stewarts claim that the uncertainty on the issue was already disturbing the commercial world, Mansfield told the slave owners that they had come to the wrong place to get the issue settled: An application to Parliament, if the merchants think the question of great commercial concern, is the best, and perhaps the only method of settling the point for the future.18 His approach echoed Mansfields attachment to the principle of parliamentary supremacy over the colonies that was emphasized in the Declaratory Act of 1766. Having warned the merchants that they might lose, he postponed the decision so that they might reflect on his warning. The merchants tried, but were unable even to secure a hearing on a proposed bill despite their influence in Parliament.19 No reason was given, but we may assume that the members were content to let the matter rest while it was before the court.

In late May, a London newspaper speculated on the consequences of Mansfields decision:

The West-India merchants have, we hear, obtained a promise from Mr. Stewart not to accommodate the Negro cause, but to have the point solemnly determined; since, if the laws of England do not confirm the colony laws with respect to property in slaves, no man of common sense will, for the future, lay out his money in so precarious a commodity. The consequences of which will be inevitable ruin to the British West Indies.20

On June 22, Somerset prepared for his final judgment. Many of his friends and interested blacks attended court that day. Granville Sharp was not in court. Sharp had pressed Mansfield to decide on the legality of slavery for several years. Mansfield had avoided the issue, but now appeared prepared to face it. Sharps presence, some believed, might have antagonized Mansfield.

Bewigged, Lord Mansfield mounted the bench while the clerk called the case of James Somerset, a Negro, on Habeas Corpus. Mansfield recited the facts, discussed the law briefly and concluded:

The state of slavery is of such a nature, that it is incapable of being introduced on any reasons, moral or political; but only by positive law, which preserves its force long after the reasons, occasion, and time itself from whence it was created, is erased from memory; its so odious, that nothing can be suffered to support it but positive law. Whatever inconveniences, therefore, may follow from the decision, I cannot say this case is allowed or approved by the law of England; and therefore the black must be discharged.21

Black members of the audience rose and bowed to the court. Somerset basked in the pleasure of being a hero in the black community. He was the guest of honor at a party of nearly two hundred blacks. The community celebrated not only his victory, but freedom for all black slaves in England. Sharp told him that Lord Mansfield had decided that a slave could not be held captive by his master. This, he said, would effectively abolish slavery in England.

That was the interpretation of the Somerset decision in both Britain and in the colonies.22 The London papers took note. The Public Advertiser, June 27, 1772, wrote:

On Monday near two hundred blacks with their ladies had an entertainment at a public-house in Westminster, to celebrate the triumph which their brother Somerset had obtained over Mr. Stuart [sic], his master. Lord Mansfields health was echoed round the room; and the evening was concluded with a ball. The tickets for admission to this black assembly were 5s. each.

Parliament never took issue with Mansfields decision. There would have been little enthusiasm in Britain for encouraging colonials to bring their slaves to England, as Sir John Fielding made clear in his 1762 book.23 The idea of introducing slavery into the law of England would have little or no support among the common people.24

Benjamin Franklin, then in London, was unimpressed. He minimized the Somerset decision at the time it was published.

It is said that some generous humane persons subscribed to the expense of obtaining the liberty by law for Somerset the Negro.It is to be wished that the same humanity may extend itself among numbers; if not to the procuring liberty for those that remain in our colonies, at least to obtain a law for abolishing the African commerce in slaves, and declaring the children of present slaves free after they become of age....

Pharisaical Britain! to pride thyself in setting free a single slave that happens to land on thy coasts, while thy merchants in all thy ports are encouraged by thy laws to continue a commerce whereby so many hundreds of thousands are dragged into a slavery that can scarce be said to end with their lives, since it is entailed on their posterity!25

The decision in Somersets case meant more than Franklin suggested. If a master could not use force to restrain a runaway slave, the slave could liberate himself. On July 10, 1772, a little more than two weeks after the Somerset decision, Charles Stewart, Somersets owner, received a letter from an acquaintance named John Riddell who lived in Bristol Wells:

I am disappointed by Mr. Dubin who has run away. He told the servants that he had recd a letter from his Uncle Somerset acquainting him that Lord Mansfield had given them their freedom and he was determined to leave me as soon as I returned from London which he did without even speaking to me. I dont find that he has gone off with anything of mine. Only carried off all his own cloths which I dont know whether he had any right to do so. I believe I shall not give my self any trouble to look after the ungrateful villain. But his leaving me just at this time rather proves inconvenient.26

Uncle Somerset probably hoped he had many such nephews and nieces. Over time, many black slaves in Britain freed themselves, as had Mr. Dubin, by walking away from their masters, who, like Mr. Riddell, decided not to seek them out.27 Sharps antislavery society gained in size and influence. Slavery was abolished in the British colonies in 1833.

In the end, James Somerset merged into the black community of London, but his case lived on. And Mansfields description of slavery as so odious echoed through the Anglo-American world and gave the impression that he had abolished slavery in Britain: News of the case echoed through American drawing roomsthe first repudiation of forced work by the mother country.28

Somerset never knew that his private quest for freedom was the spark that helped start the American Revolution and that has haunted the nation down to the present day.


Chapter 2



The Tinderbox



 

Beginning in the early spring and continuing until late fall of 1772, published reports of Lord Mansfields decision trickled into the colonies through weekly newspapers. There were at least fortythree stories about Somerset in at least twenty newspapers, all of which made clear in different ways that black slaves in England had been freed by that decision.1 The vast majority of these reports appeared in northern newspapers Massachusetts, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, New York, and New Hampshire. There were accounts published in two of the slave states, Virginia and South Carolina, where fewer newspapers existed. Two of the papers were in Rhode Island where many slave owners from South Carolina and Georgia had summer homes.

The Virginia Gazette had six stories, starting on May 7, with reports of several preliminary hearings. On November 12, 1772, it also published a critique of the decision that had been circulated in England.2 This critique, signed A West Indian Planter, marshaled the arguments against the release of Somerset which had been submitted in Somersets case. The critique argued that Somersets case had been wrongly decided and would have disastrous consequences.

The South Carolina Gazette had one major report on August 13. Another on September 15 reported the substance of Lord Mansfields speech on the Negro cause, under a dateline of June 24. The report included the following:

The state of slavery is of such a nature, that it is incapable of being now introduced by courts of justice upon mere reasoning or inferences from any principles, natural or political.And in a case so odious as the condition of slaves must be taken strictly, the power claimed by this return was never in use here; no master was ever allowed here to take a slave by force to be sold abroad because he had deserted from his service, or for any other reason whatever; we cannot say the cause set forth by this return is allowed or approved of by the laws of this kingdom, therefore the man must be discharged.3

The next week, the Gazette reported on the party in London attended by two hundred blacks and their ladies that celebrated the decision.4

These publications warned southern slave holders that if the Somerset decision became the law in the colonies, their society would be at risk. These risks included greater supervision of colonial action, perhaps taxation of slavery that had now been declared so odious that it could not exist in England, and direct parliamentary control of colonial slavery.

Decisions about slavery could be made by Parliament, or the courts, or perhaps even the king, without consultation with the colonists themselves. If Britain hesitated to free slaves in the colonies because of the incomes the slaves produced, the government still might impose taxes on the sale or purchase of slaves and control the export of products they produced, providing needed revenues for the mother countrys treasury.

This was a serious worry. The Somerset decision reached the colonies in the second year of a thaw in the strained relations with Britain stemming from the taxation issues of the 1760s. Every colony had been established by a document from the king that authorized a colonial legislature to enact laws for the colony so long as they were not repugnant to the laws of England.5 Thus the British government retained a kind of superintending power over the colonys behavior. This was well known in the colonies.6 This power was exercised by the Privy Council, an organization of senior advisors to the crown. The Privy Council acted through its Board of Trade and Plantations. The power to invalidate colonial legislation had been exercised against three colonial acts in the years immediately preceding 1772 when the Somerset case was decided.7 By that year, colonial suspicions that Britain was trying to milk the colonies of their hard earned incomes by taxation had been exacerbated by British actions beginning in 1763, the year in which the French and Indian war ended.

The British promptly established a proclamation line to prevent colonials from seeking to settle west of the Allegheny mountains for fear of inciting further conflict with Native Americans. In 1765, the British imposed the Stamp Act, requiring the colonists to buy stamps that taxed common paper goods like playing cards and writing paper, as well as deeds, wills, and lawsuits. The British imposed the tax assuming that the colonists would be grateful for the British efforts during the French and Indian war. They were not. Every level of society was directly affected by this tax. The colonial reaction against taxation without representation was spearheaded by Massachusetts; it was spontaneous among the colonies and it was effective. In every colony people refused to use stamps and reduced their purchase of British goods.

Colonial lawyers like John Adams in Boston and Thomas Jefferson in Virginia pressed the view that the colonists should not be taxed because they were not represented in Parliament. Samuel Adams, more a man of the streets and back rooms than his cousin John, occasionally invoked mob action to encourage merchants to boycott British goods. The same scenes were played out from Boston to Virginia. Those individuals who had prepared to sell the stamps were vigorously persuaded to withdraw.

The fury of the people caught at least two of the founding fathers off guard: Benjamin Franklin, then in London, and Richard Henry Lee in Virginia, one of Jeffersons aspiring political companions. Franklin had sought the position of stamp commissioner for a friend, whose house was nearly destroyed by a mob in Philadelphia that also had threatened Franklins wife and home.8 In Virginia, Lee had initially applied for the commissioners job before he felt the temper of the community and withdrew.9 The temper was furious. A mob of property owners and merchants coerced George Mercer to resign as stamp distributor for Virginia and threatened to tar and feather a ship owner who publicly stated he would obey the Stamp Act.10 In Boston, Governor Hutchinsons house was torn down by an angry mob, leading to the stationing of British troops there.11

Under pressure from British merchants who lost business because of the boycott, Parliament repealed the taxes in 1766. At the same time it adopted the Declaratory Act asserting that Parliament had authority to govern the colonies, in all cases whatsoever.12 Most of the colonists did not worry about the abstract claim that Parliament had unlimited power over them. The claim appeared to be merely a facesaving device to cover up the failure of the Stamp Act. The boycott was abandoned, the mobs went home, and life in the colonies and among the merchants and the citizens returned to normal, except that the seeds of distrust of Britain had been planted in the colonists. They would sprout in 1767 when the British tried once again to tax the colonies with taxes devised by British chancellor of the exchequer, Charles Townshend. These were taxes on paper, glass, paint, and tea imported into the colonies.13 These indirect taxes aroused another storm of protest and boycott, once more spearheaded by Massachusetts. The state assembly issued a circular letter to all the colonies to harmonize the protests against the tax. London overreacted, and required governors to dissolve or refuse to call colonial assemblies unless they rejected the Massachusetts letter. The colonial assemblies resisted this call, and once again the British retreated. In March of 1770 they repealed all the Townshend taxes except a small tax on tea to preserve the principle of parliamentary supremacy in the Declaratory Act. The colonists who normally drank smuggled tea anyway ignored the tea tax.

As before, the boycott faded away and matters returned to normal.14 Even the Boston Massacre of that year, where British troops fired on a crowd that was taunting them and killed five men, including Crispus Attucks, did not revive revolutionary fervor.15 John Adams defended the troops and their captain in court on grounds of self-defense against a mob of saucy boys, Negroes and mulattoes, Irish teagues, and outlandish jacktars.16 Boston juries acquitted the British soldiers and the streets remained calm.

The thrust toward independence had ended, except for a few who could not convince their countrymen that the British claim to control the colonies was serious.17 These repeated efforts at taxation did increase the atmosphere of distrust between Britain and the colonies, as the British increasingly believed the colonies were bent on independence, and the colonists increasingly believed the British intended to exploit them by either taxation or repression. John Dickinson, a Philadelphia landowner and political figure, had pressed the no taxation without representation issue in 1768 in his widely published articles entitled Letters from a Farmer in Pennsylvania.18

But these mutual resentments subsided after the Townshend taxes were repealed in 1770. Business between the colonies and Britain resumed. The period from 1770 to 1773 is described by historians as a calm, a pause, an uneasy truce, or the quiet years, in the movement toward revolution.19 It is difficult to realize that what is now called a pause looked like peace at the time. The Somerset case, arriving as it did against a background of efforts by the British government to tax and otherwise interfere with colonial governments between 1763 and 1770, gave the southern colonists yet another reason to be concerned with British meddling in their affairs. The repugnancy clauses in colonial charters authorizing only legislation that was not contrary to British laws, and the Declaratory Act claiming parliamentary power over all cases whatsoever in the colonies combined to make thoughtful southern leaders exceedingly nervous.20 Once Lord Mansfield had pronounced slavery so odious that it is not allowed or approved by the Law of England, the prospect that the repugnancy clause might be used in the future to challenge colonial slavery became a serious risk. As historian Richard Hildreth asked in 1846:

How, then, were those [colonial] assemblies competent to legalize a condition, many of the consequences of which are pronounced by Mansfield absolutely contrary to English law?21

While these complex details of British colonial relations may not seem to be the stuff of which revolutions are made, the fact is that much of the political leadership in the colonies consisted of lawyers, and in the southern colonies these lawyers were often also planters, slave owners, and land speculators.22

Historian Jack Greene has analyzed the occupations of the one hundred ten leaders in the Virginia House of Burgesses between 1720 and 1776:

Most of the one hundred ten leaders of the house were, of course, planters. Indeed, at least ninety-one were directly involved in planting and raising tobacco, although a third of these engaged in planting only as secondary occupation. The lawyersmost of whom were planters on the sidewere the next most numerous professional or occupational group. Thirty-nine of the one hundred ten were practicing lawyers, but they were far more significant than their numbers would indicate.They had precisely those talents required in framing legislation and carrying on the business of the Burgesses, and throughout the period under consideration they were conspicuous by their presence at the top level of power. Of the four men who served as speaker, John Holloway, Sir John Randolph, and Peyton Randolphwere lawyers.

    Nearly all the leaders of the house had secondary economic interests.Their most important secondary occupation was land speculation. Over two-fifths, and perhaps more, speculated in western landsa profitable avocation.23

These lawyer-planter-slave-owner-speculator-politicalleaders would view events through the lawyers lens How will this event affect my clients?

Henry Laurens of South Carolina, a wealthy former slave trader turned plantation owner who would later become president of the Continental Congress, was in London when Lord Mansfield announced his decision in Somerset. After the decision, Laurens, writing to a friend, was critical of the argument of John Dunning, who was counsel to Somersets owner, Charles Stewart:

I will not say a word of Lord Mansfields judgment in the case of Stuart v. Somerset [sic] until we meet, save only that his lordships administration was suitable to the times. The able Dunning set out on the defendants [slave owners] part by declaring that he was no advocate for slavery, and in my humble opinion he was not an advocate for his clients nor was there a word said to the purpose on either side.24

Why was Laurens so cautious in expressing his view about the Somerset decision? Mail was insecure and Laurens was already a major political force in South Carolina. Perhaps he believed that the best course was to blame the lawyer. Laurenss letter implies that the decision was the result of poor advocacy by Dunning, the slave owners lawyer. Laurenss negative attitude toward the decision was consistent with his reliance on slave labor as the basis for his two fortunes as slave trader and planter.25 He was also consistent in the protection of slavery whenever he had an opportunity.

In 1777, as president of the Continental Congress, Laurens presided over an amendment to the Articles of Confederation that prevented the Somerset decision from being applied anywhere in the new states.26 In 1783, his major contribution as a United States representative in Paris at the treaty of peace with Britain was to insist on a provision in the treaty requiring Britain to return Negroes who had joined them during the war.27 Laurens did not further commit his views on the Somerset decision to writing. However, he wrote three letters relating to arrangements to send a slave named Cato to Charleston from England in 1772. The editors of Laurenss papers suggest that Cato had been brought to England by Laurenss former partner and was being sent back post haste to avoid the difficulties that arose in the case of James Somerset.28

Charles Stewart, Somersets owner, held the same view of Dunnings argument: Dunning was dull and languid, and would have made a much better figure on the other side.29

Not only were the slave masters concerned about the Somerset decision, the slaves learned of it too. Some of them ran away to find a ship that would take them to England and freedom because they heard about the Somerset case. One advertisement for the return of a runaway in 1774 read:

Run away the 16th instant, from the Subscriber, a Negro man named BACCHUS, About 30 Years of Age, five feet six or seven inches high, strong and well madeHe was seen a few Days before he went off with a Purse of Dollars, and had just before changed a five Pound Bill; Most, or all of which, I suppose he must have robbed me of, which he might easily have done, I having trusted him much after what I thought had proved his Fidelity. He will probably endeavour to pass for a Freeman by the Name of John Christian, and attempt to get on Board some Vessel bound for Great Britain, from the Knowledge he has of the late Determination of Somersets Case. Whoever takes up the said Slave shall have 5 Reward, on his Delivery to GABRIEL JONES.30

The possibility of a British rejection of slavery anywhere in the empire appalled the plantation owners and their representatives because slavery was a necessary underpinning of their prosperity.31 Slavery was the foundation of the economic and social environment that their leaders represented and protected.

The riches that flowed from slave ownership were threefold: the value of the slaves themselves, both as capital and as security for loans; the value of the product they produced, including more slaves; and the value of the land that they cleared and planted.32 Slavery in the southern colonies made white slave owners the wealthiest group on the mainland, as economist James A. Henretta has described:

The average free wealth holder in the South had total physical resources of 395 in 1774 as compared to 161 for those in New England and 187 for the Middle Colonies.Yet the economy of the South was not more productive than the economies of other regions....Per capita wealthland, livestock, producer and consumer goods was almost exactly the same in 1774 in every region of the country. White southerners had more wealth than white northerners only because black southerners had none.33

The importance of slavery to the southern colonists had its roots in the pre-Revolutionary period. As a result of a rebellion by poor whites in 1676, Virginia shifted its labor force from a mix of black slaves and white indentured servants to slaves alone.34 Most whites owned one or two slaves, not the much larger numbers owned by the major planters. But these few slaves were crucial to their masters in easing the daily labor necessary for an agricultural existence. For example, owning slaves enabled white children to have some schooling, or enabled ill or disabled family members to bear lighter loads. In addition, the existence of black slaves provided the poor white slave owner with a status that connected him with his betters and distinguished him from those destined to labor forever. These conditions gave most poor whites an incentive to protect slavery that was equivalent to or exceeded the more obvious interests of those who held a greater number of slaves.35

Planters were constantly in debt to their merchants as long as tobacco was the primary crop, and slaves could not only be sold, they could be mortgaged or pledged. Tobacco depleted the soil, requiring the clearing of new land; cultivation of the crop demanded the use of slaves.36 The result was an economic spiral in which most slave owners were compelled to continue to invest in more slaves, consuming capital which, in the North, had begun to flow into industrial and commercial activities. Although northern states possessed fewer slaves, the slave trade supported their shipbuilding and commercial activities.

All of these considerations combined to make southern political lawyers anxious about their property in slaves that was threatened by the Somerset decision.37 Taxation may have taken some of their property; Somerset threatened to take it all.

The colonial upset over British taxation had ebbed with the withdrawal of all taxes except that on tea in 1770. News of the Somerset decision reached the colonies in the summer and fall of 1772.

During those quiet years, John Adams of Massachusetts and Thomas Jefferson of Virginia had not yet met each other. Even so, they had much in common. They were well-educated, thoughtful, and successful lawyers who had entered the political arenas of their respective colonies.38 They were both concerned with perceived British intrusions into colonial life and economy.

There were also sharp differences between them, both in appearance and background. Jefferson, the younger of the two, was a tall, thin, soft-spoken aristocrat; a wealthy man by inheritance and marriage, owning about two hundred slaves. He was not a strong public speaker, but the clarity and style of his prose was recognized by all.

Adams was short, stout, and talkative; the product of generations of Massachusetts farmers, his modest wealth was the result of his successful law practice and farming. He frequently spoke at length, seeking to persuade others through reasoning of what he thought was obvious. He was direct rather than diplomatic.

Regardless of these differences in culture and background, Jefferson and Adams were both disappointed that the colonial revolutionary movement had collapsed in 1770.

Jefferson wrote in his autobiography:

Nothing of particular excitement occurring for a considerable time, our countrymen seemed to fall into a state of insensibility to our situation; the duty on tea not yet repealed, and the Declaratory Act of a right in the British Parliament to bind us by their laws in all cases whatsoever still suspended over us.39

At nearly the same time, Adams wrote about the apathy of the people outside of Massachusetts: Still quiet at the southward; and at New York they laugh at us.40 By the end of the year, he was also worried about the people of Massachusetts. On December 31, 1772, he wrote to a friend, reporting that his health had returned and he had resumed his law practice.

The prospect before me, however, is very gloomy. My country is in deep distress and has very little ground of hope that she will soon, if ever, get out of it. The system of a mean and merciless administration, is gaining ground upon our patriots every day.41

During the calm, both men went about their personal, political, and professional affairs. In 1770, John Adams was elected a representative to the Massachusetts legislature. Adams moved to Boston from Braintree where he had been born. Riding circuit, he became one of the best lawyers in Massachusetts. In 1772, Abigail had their fifth and last child. The growing Adams family spent long days on the farm.42 However, John also managed to appear in more than two hundred cases ranging from animals straying into a neighbors yard to complex commercial matters. He also became more active in political matters. In 1773, when Governor Hutchinson of Massachusetts argued to the colonial legislature that there was no middle ground between parliamentary supremacy and independence, Adams framed an answer that, since Britain never intended the colonials to be slaves, they must be free.43

During the calm, Jefferson also lived the full life of a young lawyer. In 1770, his family home Shadwell was accidentally destroyed by fire, burning his books and papers. But he was already at work developing his new house at Monticello, and had begun courting the young widow Martha Shelton, whom he would marry on New Years Day, 1772.44 Their first child was born in late September of the same year. He was elected to the House of Burgesses and he handled complex cases, including a divorce case that challenged the supremacy of British divorce law over colonial legislation.

This case crystallized Jeffersons thinking about the relation between Britain and the colonies. Jefferson had been preparing an argument to uphold a colonial legislative divorce. In this effort, he reviewed the basis for the English law concerning divorce.45 His preparation was aborted by the death of one of the parties. The issue of parliamentary control of divorce matters continued to brew in Pennsylvania, and was finally resolved that same year, against the colonial power.46

The research was not lost; Jefferson relied on it in developing his argument for independence published as his Summary View in 1774.47 His argument paralleled that of John Adams in the debate with Governor Hutchinson.48 It was a difficult argument because Britain had long claimed authority over the actions of the colonies under the original charters of the colonies. The colonial charters that gave each colony the power to adopt legislation contained clauses limiting that power to laws that were not repugnant to the laws of Britain. After the Somerset case, there was a prospect that Parliament might tax or abolish the odious institution.

The Declaratory Act of 1766 in which Parliament claimed total power over all cases whatsoever in the colonies was far more intrusive into colonial authority than the principle that the government could void laws repugnant to British law. This was the state of legal affairs that Jefferson considered a sword of Damocles suspended over the colonies.

Thus the reliance on the rights of Englishmen that had emerged during the Stamp Act controversy could not prevail under the Declaratory Act. Furthermore, the southern colonists knew that the senior spokesman for the British colonial administration during the Stamp Act crisis had been none other than Lord Mansfield, who had just declared the basis of their society to be odious.49

Parliaments reaction to the Somerset proceedings was not reassuring to the colonists. It had refused to consider legislation protecting slavery in England during Somersets trial, following Lord Mansfields advice, and did not take it up after the trial was over. Presumably the people of England did not wish to legalize slavery there.

This treatment of colonial slave owners was in sharp contrast to that in France, where, despite occasional releases of slaves based on the freedom principle, French colonists had requested, and the government had agreed to, legislation which set conditions that allowed the colonists to bring their slaves to France and retain ownership of them.50 In the context of increasing colonial distrust of British actions and motives, and the growing belief that the British would not understand their need to be secure in their property, this turn-down by Parliament when compared to the French response on the same issue led many slave owners to make their slaves sign indentures, classifying them as servants, before taking them to England.51

Thus both the Court of Kings Bench and Parliament rejected the merchants demands for a decision protecting colonial slavery. To many thoughtful southern colonials, this was the last straw in a decade-long effort by Britain to usurp colonial autonomy. The following year, Adams would argue vigorously and successfully to base the colonists claims on natural law rather than on existing rights of Englishmen under British laws or colonial charters.

Jefferson and Adams both knew that the abstract declaration of the right of Parliament to control the colonies was a weapon that could destroy colonial aspirations to self-government and could shred the economy of each colony. They were not alone among those colonists who worried that Britain would treat the colonies as pawns in the international struggle for power with the French and as sources of revenue for Britain, rather than recognizing that the energies of the colonists could enhance the status of the British empire throughout the world.52 But now, after Somerset, the threat from the government in London was clearer, and if carried out would undermine the rich and powerful southern society dominated by the lawyerplanter-slave-owner political elite.


Chapter 3



Virginia Responds to the Somerset Decision



 

The Somerset decision, with its slap at the Virginians way of life, became the subject of serious discussion in drawing rooms during the fall of 1772. With limited mail service and few newspapers, the social exchanges at plantation houses provided the best occasions for people to talk about politics, exchange social gossip, and explore ideas among friends who shared their basic lifestyles.1 The slave-owner-planter-lawyer political figures met regularly at such affairs. Some visits and parties lasted days.

Slave owners, especially those who owned more than a few slaves, could never be completely at ease. There was an undertone that silently expressed the frustration of most slaves at the futility of their lives. In his book The Ruling Race: A History of American Slaveholders, historian James Oakes reviews the manuals developed to help slave owners promote efficiency in production through persuasion, threats, and punishment. He writes:

Loyal house servants and faithful mammies did not disturb the workings of the slave system; hostile slave laborers did, and there can be no question that in terms of the masters perceptions, hostility prevailed....For the mass of field hands, daily life was a perpetual grind of hard work characterized by nearly universal hatred of the slave system and punctuated by periodic and often sustained acts of resistance. It was the resistance that made its mark.

    Slaveholders complained that their bondsmen were impudent because they were impudent; masters complained that their slaves were lazy because they frequently would not work. By deliberate lassitude, by running away, by sabotage, slaves withheld their labor from the master. In effect, they were striking, and to some degree every master succumbed to the slaves demands. By planning their individual and collective acts of day-to-day resistance as deliberate responses to particular grievances, the slaves were punishing their masters for mistreatment, neglect, overwork.2

As a result, the planters and their families were always conscious that their security, both personal and financial, was on shaky grounds. Stories of slave revolts, murders, and lesser violence were extensively discussed and dissected. Virginians knew that South Carolina had an 80 percent slave population. They thought that percentage dangerously high and wished to cut off further importation of African slaves, both to increase their own security and to improve their position as sellers of slaves. These insecurities informed their review of Lord Mansfields decision that slavery was so odious that it could exist only by positive law and was not protected by the common law. That Lord Mansfield would free fifteen thousand slaves in England, leaving the slave owners with no recourse to the courts, and that Parliament showed no interest in the question was appalling to them.3

Some historians have questioned the significance of the Somerset decision because in later years Mansfield disavowed the intent to abolish slavery and British courts held that if a slave brought to Britain did return to the colonies, his slavery reemerged and attached to him again.4 However, the decision was in large measure self-executing as slaves walked away from their masters and the masters gave up. Slavery virtually disappeared in England in the early nineteenth century.5 The importance of Somerset in the American colonies was the impression that the decision created in the minds of the colonist planter-lawyerpoliticians in late 1772, who could only read the words, not the future.

The attitudes of these men have been examined in depth by historian T. H. Breen. His thesis is that their perceptions of life were influenced by the nature of the planting process: that being known as a successful grower of tobacco was the pinnacle of personal achievement, giving meaning to their lives and assuring what they considered to be their independence.6

A far-off and highly placed judge in Britain had labeled slavery, on which the tobacco culture depended, so odious that British law would not recognize it. These planters must have taken his criticism as applying to the process of their lives. These proud and independentminded men were given a double wound: to their honor and to their independence, administered by a stranger who appeared to be ignorant about the fundamentals of life in colonial Virginia.

A deeper issue underlay the uncertainties created by Mansfields decision. Mansfields statement pointedly emphasized Parliaments ultimate power over slavery in the colonies under the Declaratory Act of 1766 when he told Stewart that Parliament is the best and perhaps the only method of settling the point for the future.7 This statement meant that Parliaments claim of total power over the colonies in all cases whatsoever included the institution of slavery. Thus the refusal of Parliament to consider whether to legalize slavery in Britain during Somersets trial, implying a lack of sympathy toward the slave owners, may have been as upsetting to the southern colonies as the Somerset decision itself. If Parliament would allow the abolition of slavery at home, without even hearing the plantation interests, how long would it be before Britain would meddle with or abolish slavery in the colonies?8

Lawyers would doubtless think that since Mansfield had declared slavery a disfavored institution, it could be more readily taxed by a regime that was seeking to milk the colonies for the benefit of the homeland. Thus they saw that the attack on slavery involved both colonial control of internal policies and taxation without representation.

In the fall of 1772, the planter-lawyers carried these fears from the drawing rooms to their offices and courthouses where they met. As lawyers pondered the Somerset decision published in southern papers, their concern increased. They put together three points of Mansfields reasoning in the Somerset case: (1) slavery was repugnant to the common law, (2) Parliament had the final say concerning the legality of slavery under the Declaratory Act of 1766, and (3) Parliament had claimed the power to tax the colonies in the same Declaratory Act. They realized that slavery was under a double-barreled threat from Britain, under the repugnancy clause and the Declaratory Act. After Somerset, slavery and the colonial life it supported existed at the will of an apparently unfriendly Parliament.9

Attempts to confine discussions of the Somerset decision to drawing rooms and law offices failed. The unobtrusive servants who appeared to be part of the furnitureafter all, they were literally propertymust have heard the irate slave owners complain about the decision. This incredible news led some slaves to decide to free themselves and go to England.

How did the slave owners and their lawyers react to these threats from the Somerset opinion? First, they thought long and hard about the policies, the practicalities, and the legalities of their situation. They could have done nothing and waited to see if their fears were well grounded. But they rejected this course: Lord Mansfield had long been a major political figure in England, as well as a distinguished judge, and his opinion appeared deadly serious.

Second, they could have sought assurances from Britain that it would cease meddling in their internal affairsto transform their relationship with Britain from that of an inferior jurisdiction to one of a partnership. That would require the British to repeal the Declaratory Act, thereby agreeing to share sovereignty with the colonies. But they knew Britain would not agree to such a partnership.10 Sovereignty, in the British view, was a unitary concept. A nation either had total control over a territory or none at all. Since the Glorious Revolution of 1688, Parliament had solidified its power over the king, and in 1766 had asserted it over the colonies as well. Lord Mansfield was a firm believer that Parliament was, and had to be, supreme in the British Empire.11

Third, the southerners might seek to secede from Britain. There had been much talk during the taxation crisis of 17651770 that the British claim of the power to tax the colonies was the equivalent to holding the colonies in slavery.12 This image couldand didnaturally lead to thoughts of independence. As John Adams wrote later to Jefferson:

The revolution was in the minds of the people, and this was effected from 1760 to 1775, in the course of fifteen years before a drop of blood was drawn at Lexington.13

A revolution would be most hazardous. Britain was the most powerful country in the world, both at sea and on land. Separation by rebellion was conceivable only if all the coloniesalready chafing under British rule and worried about perceived threats to their libertywere willing to unite in a rebellion that would secure the institution of slavery under an American government. The security the South needed was recognition of the complete freedom of each colony to conduct its internal affairs.

Would the northern colonies join in a revolution to protect southern slavery? The southerners were unsure. They did not know the northerners. Most colonists were provincials, attached to their colony and to Britain more than to each other. They certainly did not know their neighbors well enough to believe they would make common cause with the South to protect slavery. When the colonies had examined Benjamin Franklins Albany Plan for a defensive league against the French and Indians in 1754, they had all rejected it because it interfered with their internal affairs.14 The southerners did know that there was already some antislavery sentiment in the North. Although slavery was legal in all colonies, it was less prevalent in the North, particularly north of New York City where slaves provided much of the labor.

Northern attitudes toward slavery were ambivalent.15 Southerners may have heard that James Otis, the leading antislavery advocate in Massachusetts in the early 1760s, argued in the Superior Court of Massachusetts against writs of assistance, which were general search warrants. His argument included an attack on slavery as a violation of natural rights. In 1764, his pamphlet, The Rights of the British Colonies Asserted and Proved, stated, The colonists are by the law of nature free born, as indeed all men are, white or black.16 Southern papers had reported that, after the Somerset decision, there was dancing in the streets of Philadelphia.

On the other hand, some northerners had serious interests in slavery that paralleled the southerners. Shipyards built the cargo ships for the slave trade and other commercial ventures in which New Englands bottoms transported not only slaves, but also the products they produced. Northerners captained and manned these ships and supported their families and local communities with their incomes. They also participated in smuggling that evaded the navigation acts, which required colonial goods to be shipped through British ports.

Astute slave-owner-planter-lawyer-politicians would not jump from the frying pan of the threat from Somerset into a fire of northern antislavery attitudes. The South would not join with the North to seek revolution without assurance that southern slavery would be left alone. The generation of brilliant Virginian political figuresperhaps the greatest in our historywould not be so foolish as to leave that question unaddressed. The South would seek liberty from Britain, but only if doing so would protect slavery at home.

One of the most perceptive historians of slavery during the Revolution, Donald L. Robinson, in his Slavery in the Structure of American Politics, 17651820, identified the tensions between northerners and southerners that existed in the early 1770s. To southerners, slavery was a necessity; to northerners steeped in a philosophy of natural rights, it was inconsistent and hypocritical. Robinsons focus, however, was on the situation of the colonies in 1776, as the question of independence loomed large. But his analysis is equally applicable to the condition of the colonies in early 1773, once the Virginians recognized on the need for committees of correspondence to organize the colonies against the British.17

In the spring of 1773, Jefferson was still working on his Summary View of the Rights of British America, a short exposition of his theory of the origin of Virginia which brought him instant fame in the colonies.18 His basic premise was that Britain never retained power over the internal affairs of the colonies so neither the repugnancy clause nor the Declaratory Act could constitutionally establish British control over the colonies. He shared these views with his closest friends, the younger men in the House of Burgesses, as they considered how to address their fears of loss of slavery and their aspirations for the independence to protect it.

To further both these concerns, they needed to determine how their own leaders, and those in other colonies, felt about slavery, and to measure the strength of these leaders support for Britain. Both objectives could be achieved by securing a resolution from the House of Burgesses, the lower house of the Virginia legislature, calling on all the colonies to create committees of correspondence to communicate with each other concerning British activities unfriendly to colonial interests. Richard Henry Lee, one of the younger men who would become prominent in the coming revolutionary period, characterized the measure as leading to that union, and perfect understanding of each other, on which the political salvation of America so eminently depends.19

According to Jeffersons recollection:

Not thinking our old and leading members up to the point of forwardness and zeal which the times required, Mr. Henry, R. H. Lee, Francis L. Lee, Mr. Carr, and myself agreed to meet in the evening in a private room of the Raleigh to consult on the state of things.We were all sensible that the most urgent of all measures was that of coming to an understanding with all the other colonies to consider the British claims as a common cause to all, to produce an unity of action: and for this purpose that a committee of correspondence in each colony would be the best instrument for intercommunication: and that their first measure would probably be to propose a meeting of deputies from every colony at some central place, who should be charged with the direction of the measures which should be taken by all.20

Some of these younger members were conflicted about the moralitybut not the necessityof the maintenance of slavery. Jefferson would later elegantly condemn slavery in a passage of the Declaration of Independence that was deleted by Congress.21 Much later, in his famous letter to Edward Coles in 1814, Jefferson concluded that public sentiment indicated an apathy to every hope that the younger generation would have sympathized with oppression wherever found.22 Richard Henry Lees initial speech to the Burgesses in 1759 had criticized slavery for weakening the energies of white Virginians. The importation of slaves has been and will be attended with effects dangerous both to our political and moral interests. Other colonies were outmatching Virginia because,

With their whites, they import arts and agriculture, while we, with our blacks, exclude both...they are deprived, forever deprived, of all the comfort of life, and to be made the most wretched of the human kind.23

Patrick Henry had also bemoaned slavery, while acknowledging its necessity. In Virginia, he wrote,

When the rights of humanity are defined and understood with precisionwe find men, professing a religion the most humane, mild, meek, gentle, and generous, adopting a principle as repugnant to humanity as it is inconsistent with the Bible and destructive to liberty.Would anyone think I am master of slaves of my own purchase!I am drawn along by the general inconveniences of living without them, I will not, I cannot, justify it.24

They all knew that protecting slavery was essential to the political, social, and economic life of Virginia, and to their personal political futures.

They suppressed what negative feelings they may have had about slavery and gave free rein to their desires for independence to protect it. Any impulse to move to end slavery was outweighed by their fears, their guilt, and their need to maintain slavery as well as their desire for independence that had been kindled during the taxation issues of the 1760s and nurtured by British incursions into colonial self-government.

In fact, they were all in a position similar to Jeffersons, as explained by economic historians Stanley Elkins and Eric McKitrick:

[Jefferson] would never, in fact, be anything but an insider. His rise was swift and smooth as leaders of the provincial elite quickly recognized his abilities and in effect brought him into the ruling group while still in his mid-twenties....The coercions of this insidership were undoubtedly considerable. The system had given him everything he could have asked for: wealth, love and a profitable marriage, social position, the fullest opportunity to engage his talents, and general recognition. He was thus allowed the luxury of determining which of these things he valued most, and which least, without having to give up any of them. Such being the case, the likelihood of his offering a basic challenge to that system, whatever the defects he might decide needed remedying, was not very great. He might suppose himself viewing it with detachment, but he would never do so from the outside.25

Jeffersons sophistry, in his Summary View published in 1774, that the slave trade must be eliminated before slavery could be abolished, must be understood as going as far publicly toward restricting slavery as he thought possible without risking his political influence.26 But his conclusion was illogical. As historian Duncan MacLeod noted pithily: It was slavery which supported the slave trade and not the converse.27

Once the younger members were satisfied with their draft, they sounded out some of the senior leaders before proposing it. Jefferson recalled how the senior members had heckled Richard Bland, one of the most respected of Virginias elder statesmen, when he proposed a modest easing of the prohibition on manumission of slaves.28 Jefferson, as pictured by historian Joseph Ellis, did not like personal conflicts or confrontations. His forte wasamong other thingsin working out wide ranging theories and expressing them brilliantly in his writing. Ellis writes:

What his critics took to be hypocrisy was not really that at all. In some cases it was the desire to please different constituencies, to avoid conflict with colleagues. In other cases it was an orchestration of his internal voice, to avoid conflict with himself. Both the external and internal diplomacy grew out of his deep distaste for sharp disagreement and his bedrock belief that harmony was natures way of signaling the arrival of truth. More self-deception than calculated hypocrisy, it was nonetheless a disconcerting form of psychological agility that would make it possible for Jefferson to walk past the slave quarters on Mulberry Row at Monticello thinking about mankinds brilliant prospects without any sense of contradiction.29

From their associations with the senior leaders, the younger members had reason to believe that their concerns for the preservation of Virginias slave system would override the older members attachment to the empire.

Tobacco cultivation had worn out many acres of Virginia so much that experiments in planting wheat had already been undertaken by George Washington, among others. Wheat required fewer slaves than tobacco. The cultivation of tobacco or wheat was easier than the cultivation of sugar or rice. As a result, in Virginia, slaves multiplied. In the rice fields of South Carolina, slaves died early, and had to be replenished. West Indian planters also required constant supplies of new slaves as the working conditions on the sugar plantations caused slaves to die young, and consequently not reproduce. In Virginia, and most of the South except South Carolina and Georgia, the life of the slave was less onerous; slaves did reproduce and increased their population.30

Historian Edmund Morgan explains:

In Virginia not only had the rate of mortality from disease gone down, but the less strenuous work of cultivating tobacco, as opposed to sugar, enabled slaves to retain their health and multiply. To make a profit, sugar planters worked their slaves to death; tobacco planters did not have to.31

Some Virginia planters found themselves with surplus slaves to sell to other colonies; others began to breed slaves for sale. Cutting off further foreign importation of slaves would enhance the value of the Virginians slaves. Thus Virginia could oppose the international slave trade while combining conscience and economics. The elimination of the trade would increase the value of the existing slaves and reduce the risk of severe slave over-population, which might threaten slave revolts. In addition, domestic and domesticated slaves were more valuable because they knew the language, work habits, and plantation customs, and were considered more peaceable and better security risks. Economic historian James A. Henretta identified the parallel increase in the price of slaves and the value of land in Virginia between 1750 and 1776.32

The leading slave holders had joined in a plea to the king in 1772 to ban foreign traffic in slaves, but had been rebuffed by the British government.33 The petition read in part:

The importation of slaves into the colonies from the coast of Africa hath long been considered a trade of great inhumanity, and under its present encouragement we have too much reason to fear will endanger the very existence of Your Majestys American dominions.34

Because Virginia advocated abolition of the international slave trade, it has sometimes been considered an advocate for the abolition of slavery itself. This was George Bancrofts view in his 1854 History of the United States. In discussing the Virginia petition to the king to abolish the trade in 1772, he states:

In this manner Virginia led the host, who alike condemned slavery and opposed the slave trade. Thousands in Maryland, and in New Jersey, were ready to adopt a similar Petition; so were the legislatures of North Carolina, of Pennsylvania, of New York. Massachusetts, in its towns and in its legislature, unceasingly combated the conditions as well as the sale of slaves. There was no jealousy among one another in the strife against the crying evil. Virginia harmonized all opinions, and represented the moral sentiment and policy of them all.35 (emphasis added)

Bancroft ignored the difference between abolishing slavery and abolishing the slave trade. He was also wrong in suggesting that the South was united behind Virginias desire to end the importation of slaves.36 South Carolina and Georgia imported slaves into the nineteenth century. The international slave trade was as necessary for them as for the West Indian planters.

After the younger members had prepared the groundwork for the resolution for the committees of correspondence, it was presented to the House of Burgesses controlled by the senior members who dominated Virginias political landscape. By March 12, 1773, these menall of whom had prospered under British rule were prepared to take the serious step of uniting the colonies to oppose British actions that offended their interests. The Somerset decision, with its implications for southern slavery, had been the most recent and profound event that led them to assert publicly that, since the Stamp Act of 1765, the British government had demonstrated a pattern of disregard of colonial interests.

These senior members were listed first among those to serve on the committee of correspondence. The first three men named in the resolution constituting the committee Peyton Randolph, Robert Carter Nicholas, and Richard Blandwere wealthy planters and staunch supporters of slavery.37 They had been considered both social and political friends of the governor and no friend of radical talk during the tax crises with Britain of the preceeding years, although they had cautiously supported the boycotts of that time.

The president of the House of Burgesses, Peyton Randolph, was a member (as was Jeffersons mother) of the historic Randolph family, which had enormous interests in Virginia. Robert Carter Nicholas was a member of two of the most important families in Virginia history. He was so sensitive to the need to protect slavery that he led the filibuster against George Masons draft Bill of Rights for Virginia in 1776, on the grounds that it might incite slave revolts by suggesting that slaves might have rights.38 Richard Bland was a gentleman-planter-lawyer whose performance in public affairs was said to be equaled by few and surpassed by no Virginians of the mid-eighteenth century.39

The other members in the order named in the resolution were: Richard Henry Lee, Benjamin Harrison, Edmund Pendleton, Patrick Henry, Dudley Digges, Dabney Carr, Archibald Cary, and Thomas Jefferson. All these men were slaveholders and lawyersthe representatives who dominated the Virginia House of Burgesses for at least half a century.40

Edmund Pendleton was a well-respected Virginia lawyer and judge who was much more cautious in moving toward independence than others like Patrick Henry, whom Pendleton considered rash. As a judge during the Stamp Act crisis, Pendleton carefully balanced his responsibilities by keeping his court open while using documents that did not require stamps in order to not violate the Acts requirements. In 1775, he successfully discouraged Virginia militia from seeking to recover gunpowder that had been moved to a ship by Lord Dunmore.41 Pendleton did not believe the Virginia militia was equipped to begin a revolution that he did not yet support. Yet Pendletons name appeared high on the list of members in a resolution that he knew would draw the wrath of the Board of Trade in London, which later called the resolution a measure of a most dangerous tendency and effect.42

When Patrick Henry, in March of 1775, moved that this colony be immediately put into a posture of defense to prepare for a war that wasin his viewalready underway (the celebrated liberty or death speech), Pendleton opposed the motion.43 It was adopted, however, and Pendleton was placed on the committee to organize the defense. He was included to assure that all shades of opinion would be represented and because he was one of the men of business to whom Virginia turned when the decision had been made and trusted leaders were needed to carry it out.44

This comment appears to explain Pendletons and the others inclusion as members of the committee of correspondence in 1773, long before the antagonism toward Britain had hardened into revolt. Despite his caution and hesitation to cut ties with Britain, Pendleton permitted himself to be included, along with Patrick Henry, on a dangerous committee of correspondence, demonstrating his belief that the vital interests of Virginia were at stake. This analysis also applies to Richard Bland, Robert Carter Nicholas, and Benjamin Harrison, whose names appear first in the resolution.

The publication of the resolution upset the British Board of Trade because it prepared the colonies to act in concert. Historian Theodore Draper explains:

The committees of correspondence transformed the struggle for power from agitation to organization. They were a radical innovation in the colonial struggle, extralegal if not illegal....Governors could and did dismiss or refuse to convene councils and assemblies, but they had no authority over committees of correspondence, which, in effect, existed outside the British imperial system. They again belied the old British assumption that the colonies were not to be feared because they were so diverse that they could not act together. From 1773 on, the colonies were prepared to meet any British threat with organized, collective opposition.45

Before the year was out, Samuel Adams and friends in Massachusettsalong with others in New York, Philadelphia, and Charlestonwould demonstrate how collective opposition worked.

Just as the opinion in the Somerset case helped conservative Virginians to make a serious move toward revolution in March of 1773, the same judgment was being made in Massachusetts concerning a totally different issue. Within three weeks of Virginias resolution to establish intercolonial committees of correspondence, in far-off Boston letters written by Thomas Hutchinson in 1769 when he was lieutenant governor of Massachusetts began to circulate. These letters were written to Thomas Whately, a British friend of Hutchinson. Whately had been secretary to Lord Grenville, who had presided over the adoption of the Stamp Act in 1765.

These letters came into the possession of Benjamin Franklin in 1772 after Whately died. In December, he sent them to Thomas Cushing, Speaker of the House of Representatives in Massachusetts. Franklin was at that time the agent for Massachusetts in Britain. He asked that they not be printed, but shown to important Massachusetts political figures. It was surely too much for Franklin to expect they would not see the light of day.

Franklin said his objective was to demonstrate that the difficulties with Britain were the result of Hutchinson and other individual colonists despicable policies of secretly seeking to weaken colonial liberties, rather than the fault of the British government.46 This explanation sounds suspiciously like a Franklin satire, or else a desire to placate both the Massachusetts patriots and the British government at the same time. The letters were incriminating to Massachusetts eyes because they urged a restriction on colonial liberties. Here is a sample:

This is most certainly a crisis. I really wish that there may not have been the least degree of severity, beyond what was absolutely necessary to maintain, I think I may say this to you, the dependence which a colony ought to have upon the parent state, but if no measures shall have been taken to secure this dependence or nothing more than some Declaratory Acts or resolves, it is all over with us. The friends of government will be utterly disheartened and the friends of anarchy will be afraid of nothing, be it ever so extravagant.

    I never think of the measures necessary for the peace and good order of the colonies without pain. There must be an abridgment of what are called English liberties. I relieve myself by considering that in a remove from the state of nature to the most perfect state of government there must be a great restraint of natural liberty. I doubt whether it is possible to project a system of government in which a colony three thousand miles distant from the parent state shall enjoy all the liberty of the parent state. I am certain I have never yet seen the projection. I wish the good of the colony, when I wish to see some further restraint of liberty rather than the connection with the parent state should be broken for I am sure such a breach must prove the ruin of the colony.47

Samuel Adams generated a demand that the papers be published, which they were, in June of 1773. The content of these letters led Adams, and other patriots, perhaps including Franklin, to conclude that there was a conspiracy between Hutchinson and others with the British to restrict the Massachusetts colonials exercise of their rights as Englishmen. If so, the time to move toward independence was at hand. This is the conclusion of historian John Ferling:

No one was more touched than John Adams by these occurrences coming one atop another; Londons apparent drive to deprive the provincial authority of its independence, the governors intransigent position on colonial autonomy, and the revelation of a possible plot among imperial officials to destroy the liberties of the colonists, all had a transforming impact on Adams. As if by alchemy, these events changed Adams. The uncertain patriot of the 1760s was at last recast. Never again would he see British policy as merely misguided. When Great Britain next moved against the colonies, John Adams emerged as a committed revolutionary.48

By the summer of 1773, the leaders of both Massachusetts and Virginiaapproaching the issue from vastly different positionshad made the psychological leap from loyal subjects of the empire seeking their rights as Englishmen to rebels who would soon assert their right to govern themselves. With the initiative of the Virginia House of Burgesses call for colonial committees of correspondence, the colonists now had a mechanism for communicating with each other that was beyond the control of the colonial governors, but had legitimacy in the public mind because the committees had been created by colonial legislatures.
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Colony/Paper Number of lems  Date of first entry
MASSACHUSETTS

Boston Gazette 1 Sept.21
Massachusetts Spy. 4+ Aug 27
Mercury. 1

Boston Post Boy 4+ July 27
Massachusetts N

Gaxette & Boston.

News Letter

Essex Gazette N Aug.25
Salem [no0 8]

PENNSYLVANIA

Chronicle: 2 Aug 22
Pennsylvania Journal 1 Sept.2
Pennsylvania Packet 2 Aug'3
Pennsylvania Gazette 2 Aug 12
RHODE ISLAND.

Providence Gazette s Feb.17
Newport Mercury 8 Aug 3
NEW YORK

New York Journal 8 Apr.30
NEW HAMPSHIRE

Gazette

VIRGINIA|

Gazette (P& D) s May 7
Gazette (Rind) 1 Now.12
SOUTH CAROLINA

Gazette 1 Aug 13
S.C. and American Aug 3
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Voting by States, Individuals on Antislavery 1784, 1785, and 1787

17847 1785 1787
Vote on Jefferson’s Vote to Refer King's Vote on Northwest
Slavery Clause Motion to Commitiee Ordinance
VES VES VES
Foster, Blanchard Foster, Long Absent
Gerry, Partridge Holton, King Holton, Dane
Ellery, Howell Ellery, Howell Absent
Sherman, Wadsworth Cook, Johnson Absent

de Witt, Paine

Dick #*

Absent

Mifflin, Montgomery, Hand

NO

McHenry, Stone
Hardy, Mercer (TJ-Y)
Spaight, Williamson V*
Read, Beresford
Absent

W. Livingstone, Platt
Beatty, Cadwallader
Absent

Gardner, W. Henry

NO

McHenry, ]. Henry, Hindman
Hardy, Lee (Grayson-Y)
Spaight, Sitgraves

Bull, Pinckney

Houstoun

Smith, Haring, (Vates-N)
Clarke, Scheurman, Stewart
Kearny, Mitchell

Absent

NO

Absent

Carrington, Lee, Grayson
Blount, Hawkins

Kean, Huger

Few, Pierce

#No state vote because delegates split evenly.
** Vots did not count: siate nesded two o v,
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How Slavery United the Colonies &
Sparked the American Revolution

“A radical, well-informed and highly original reinterpretation
of the place of slavery in the American War of Independence.”
—David Brion Davis, Yale University
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